CHAPTER - II -

SOWING THE WINDS

'ECTION SCENE

;‘niiemma

Tﬂé 1970 election results gave a stunning shocck

a2 Khan and his supporters, and placed them in a
xdifficult position. That such a crisis was
to come sooner or later (unless West Pakistan
-ely changed her policy towards Ezst Bengal) was
enough, yet Yahya remained oblivious to this

akistan's political infrastructure was built
ee well-known assumptions: the supremacy of
‘ypermanent executive over representative
{tutions, the dominance of West Pakistan over East
al and the financial autonomy of the Pakistan
< +Due to these, the ruling elite of West Pakistan
ome to enjoy such vast political powers that all
sentative institutions became defunct. It was
al for the ruling elite to feel worried ovar any
sal for reforms which could curtail its jowers,
er, such a system could not be tolerated by the
tani people for long, particularly in view of the
h of democratic institutions in South Asia. In
ion, the conversion of East Bengal into a
JARltive colony naturally generated a demand for
;#ge?in,the system. Hence,. the ruling elite in
tan had to face two inter-related movements for
4 5. While the first demanded the introduction of
zgentative institutions and political reforms, the
.aﬁked for autonomy in provinces, particularly
past”. Bengal, As both the movements grew
neously, they gave strength to each gpther.
i?n could not cope with the developing crisis
éci rgsigned in 1969. His successor Yahya Khan,
ed t urther deterioration of the situation,
thre O introduce reforms and to transfer power to
I; Séntatives of the people. He also scrapped
Ryﬁg?it scheme to cool down the advocates of
§£a§1 S%Fd, North-West Frontier Province and
Vﬁaéﬁ 5 hough the policy of discrimination
to %?gal continued, President Yahya Khan
ngfio hga§cate the East Bengalees too, by
SStern e nation-wide elections and to accord
Ff onat Ng rTepresentation in the legislature
Nate to its population.

i IS°Q§ESSiOnS, it appears, had been
Yaitioul 4 be }ﬂf expectation that no East Bengalee

g, a -€ to get an absolute majority in the
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National Assembly and, therefore, a coalition Wity
certain West Pakistani forces would be inevitablev
The military-bureaucratic complex actually hoped th&
neither of the political groups from East Bengal mﬂ
West Pakistan would be able to gain majority to fOrm;
government individually and for the smooth working of
a coalition govt. formed of two or more ETOUPS, they
would heavily depend on it. Thus, the ruling eln%
could serve as the arbiter in the political system of
Pakistan., If not the King, it would remain the
King-maker. ]

Naturally, the election results canme t;
President Yahya Khan as a thunder-clap. None hag'
anticipated the Awani League's total =and decisivye
victory. According to Yahya's calculations, Sheikp'
Mujibur Rahman's Awami League could get at the most’
seventy seats, the three factions of the Muslin League
could get sixty seats, while the remainder would be:
divided amongst other parties including Maulan,
Bhashani's National Awami Party and the
Jamaat-i-Islami in East Pakistan(1). In  West
Pakistan, he had hoped that out of one hundred and.
forty-four seats, the Pakistan People's Party could
win at the most thirty seats, the three factions of
the Muslim League between sixty to ninety and the!
remainder divided amongst the National Awanmi Party.
(Wali group} and Jamaat-i-Islami(2). Thus, he did not:
visualise any one single party emerging with a
majority either from West Pakistan or fronm East:
Pakistan. The free and fair election based on adul%
suffrage was probably the product of this thinking. |

However, when the election results completely!
belied hopes of the President, he found hinmself on the;
horns of a dilemma. His promise to transfer the power:
to the elected representatives  had generated;
tremendous hopes.  Obviously, going back on his]
promise could lead to a fatal agitation, besides his
losing face. The pressure from the people began to
increase to bring the situation to its logical
outcome. On the other hand, Yahya Khan knew that the:
ruling elite would mnot tolerate being deprived of
power. It was also strongly opposed to the transfef
of power to an East Pakistani party due to its'
inherent prejudices against the East Pakistani people:}
Hence, the military-bureaucratic complex began to put:
pressure on the President not to allow things to moV?
in the direction they had started moving. It was, ©
course not easy to stop this process. The President!
and his advisers began to look for ways to come out 0
this predicament. The first alternative appeared t@
them to allow Sheikh Mujibur Rahman to form ®
constitution-which could be rejected by the Presidents
as envisaged in the Legal Framework Order. The secoml
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;tive was to play off Bhutto and Mujib against
.g;ther, and thus compel Mujib to water down his
:Pbint programme and agree to a coalition of the
={ League and the Pakistan People's Party, with
» "Khan as the President of Pakistan. And the
zg alternative was to bring about a deadlock and
¢ continue the rule of the military-bureaucratic

lex.

As the first alternative could prove dangerous,
ehe President and his advisers discarded it. Amongst
'the other alternatives, as the subsequent events show,
ghey selected the second alternative, thinking that
inder the circumstances it would be easy to. act upon.
owever, the third alternative was also kept in mind
a substitute for the second.

- The delay of several weeks in contacting Sheikh
Mujibur Rahman and Bhutto after the elections, seems
to .indicate that the President and his advisers took
ge time to arrive at this decision. Having arrived
at - that decision, President Yahya Khan began his
panoeuvres. Keeping both the alternstives in mind,
Yahya, as a first step, desired to bring pressure on
Mujib to come to a compromise on the future
‘onstitution by using Bhutto. He could count on one
of . the two eventualities. If Mujib agreed to
corpronise, then a place for himself (Yahya) could be
kound and also assurance of sufficient funds for the
arey. And if Mujib did not;, then the resultant
deadlock could provide him opportunities to manoceuvre
he situation in his favour. Later events showed how
ter Mujib's refusal to change - his Six-Point
ogramme, a deadlock was manoeuvred, and then
Sequently efforts were made to retain power by the
ling elite in collusion with Bhutto, even at the
_F Qf thousands of lives in East Bengal.

Utto's Manoeuvres

Zulfikar Alj Bhutto, the leader of the Pakistan
; § Party (PPP), known for his flamboyance,
Bself in ambition and political astuteness, found
hecould b 8 position, after the elections, from where

emer efrgain to share power with the Awami League.
7yy;4%rwe of the PPP 'as a strong West Pakistani

Jab and nsg absolute ma jority in two provinces -
- | nd - with the right to speak for almost
St Pakistan, was viewed by Bhutto as
I to gain power at least in West
ing :out o%ng advantage of this peculiar situation

Caut {ous] the results of the election, Bhutto
hat with tg to achieve his objective. He could
ani pare € support of some members of the West
‘ les iike wWali's NAP, Council M.L.,
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P.D.P, and a few uncommitted members, Sheikh Mu i1y, §
Rahman could run the central administration Withou{!
any difficulty(3). Hence, Bhutto began to look ford
ways to bring a deadlock before the National Assemb), ¥
could meet, with the view to increasing his bargainiy;#
power to demand a share 1in the administration §
Fortunately for him, the ruling elite was one with hid
in opposing the transfer of power to Mujib. Hence, {4
was not surprising that socon Bhutto-Yahya coalitiow
came into existence to oppose Mujib. ~ 1

Reviewing the situation, Bhutto saw that whiled
Mujib's party had gained  majority in Nationg);
Assembly, it had not even a single seat in West
Pakistan. Heé icmmediately thought of using this factd
to project the Awami League as the party of one wing}
only. Taking this plea, Bhutto on 21 December 197&
declared in Lahore that neither the constitution could}
be framed nor the government at the centre formedy
without the support of the PPP, He declared that}
authority at the centre would have to be shared
between the AL and PPP to enable the two to execute
the mandate given to them by the people(4), Further,3
he pressed that the problem of autonomy could not bej
determined on the basis of majority alone as in that¥R
case, the National Assembly would not be able to give s
a constitution acceptable to both the wings of the]
country. It is interesting to note that Bhutto talkedJi
of representation on the basis of two wings, butSlE
deliberately did not talk of representation on the}
basis of the five provinces of Pakistan. In the
latter case, his party could represent only ;.
provinces -~ Punjab and Sind out of total five(5)
Justifying his claim for the representation of thé]
Western Wing, he called Punjab and Sind as bastions of
power{(6). The position taken by him showed a strangd
Inconsistency. While he was denying the right of dulyg
elected majority party to represent the whole countrj
on the ground that it represented only one provinceg
he himself claimed this right for his party in th§
western wing when his party had majority in only t¥
provinces out of four,. :

- At the end of December 1970, Bhutto met Yahyd
Though what was discussed between them is not knovi
authoritatively, it can reasonably be assumed thﬁ
Bhutto put forward his claims(7). When Yahya went *3
meet Mujib on 12 and 13 January 1971, Bhutto kept §
watchful eye on the developments. Yahya's declaratif
of Mujib as the future prime-minister of Pakistan muf
have given Bhutto a jolt, little realising that it ¥
probably intended to activate him further., When ?dﬂ
and his top aides were Bhutto's guests for a 'D¥
Shoot'" at Larkana for several days immediately afté]
it is most likely that both decided to force Mujib|
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{se on his gix-Foints(8). Bhutto./went to East
hromn on 27 January 1971 and had several rounds of

sta h Muiib on the constitutional issues. The
remained inconclusive, though both the
; e their points clear. Knowing pretty
1 that there was hardly any scope for the AL to
e its stand on the Six-Pcint prograrpe, Bhutto
esced hard for it to bring about a deadlock. Soon
¥e ¢ his return from East Pakistan, he declared that
S:as necessary to meet the leaders of all shades of
{nion in West Pakistan, including those of the
4 parties, to have a CONnSsensus on
{tution-making before convening the National
sgembly. Obviously, he was seeking opportunities for

¢nspiring‘against the Awaml League.

In the meantime, the hijacking on 30 Januarty
of the Indian plane by two Kashmiris provided
is utto and Yahya with an opportunity to delay
sfurther the summoning of the Assembly. Bhutto, .
slanning to take advantage of the anti-Indian feelings
n West Pakistan, supported the cause of the
{jackers. Yahya used it as a stratagen to send
oops to East Pakistan, apparently for protection
ginst any Indian attack but actually to use then
jgeinst the supporters of the Awami League in case the
eed arose. Mujib, realising the fact that both
utto and Yahya were trying to exploit the situation
to their advantage, condeuned the incident and
ifemanded inquiry into the matter(9). This further
provided an opportunity to Bhutto to project Mujib as
o~Indian(10). :

' Yahya announced on the 13 February 1971, that
he National Assembly would meet at Dhaka on 3 March
971 for framing the constitution. Bhutto reacted by
declaring on 15 February 1971, his decision to boycott
ttgo Asgembly session. He demanded a promise of
1c2mof ation on the AL's Six-Point programme as &
at & or his participation. He again pointed out
”Wesg ;he people had voted for PPP in great majority
SaTtios ﬁkistan and for AL in East Pakistan, both the
likensedould share the power. In a dramatic manner,
Y said tﬁe National Assembly to a slaughter house
’BHiges 1ft at his partymen would become double
¥ they went to East Pakistan(11l).

: 35311:Wing Bhutto's threat to boycott the
vada w:ssion, the. efforts of General Umer to
%eSSiOnsiﬁ?akiStanl members from participation in

and the ?t at the deep conspiracy between the

tworu ing elite(12). On 28 February, Bhutto

A alternatives to resolve the political

on or postponern.nt of the National Assenbly
3 emoval of tne 120-day time-limit for the

-53-



i
Assembly to frame a constitution. He also warned thaé

if the Assembly session was held on 3 March ask
scheduled without the participation of the PPP, h}
would launch an agitation in the whole of Wesd
Pakistan from Khyber to Karachi. It was followeq b?

Yahya's announcement of the postponement of the
session. 4

While Yahya's act attracted a sharp criticigd
from most of political leaders in both the wings 3
Bhutto welcomed it. Later, when Mujib put forward hid :
4-point demand, he diplomatically opposed it by Saying :
that he had no objection to the demands pertaining (BN
the holding of inquity into the killing of civiligagd
by the army in East Pakistan and the return of th
army to the barracks, but the other two should g
taken up in the National Assembly, On 14 March 1971 4
he demanded publicly that . the power should pg;
transferred to the majorlty parties in both the wings 3
Urged by Yahya, he participated in the discussiong]
from 16 March to 24 March, ostensibly to formulate
constitution but actually to buy time for Yahya. Thel
fact that on 24 March; Yahya and Bhutto held 3 meetingj
after which both left East Bengal, further strengthens!
the suspicion of a conspiracy hatched by them. Later®
on {after the crackdown took Place) Bhutto exclaimed:3

"By the Grace of Almighty, Pakistan has at last beenj
saved," 3

A study of Bhutto's actions shows that not only}
he went on changing his demands, he even proposed twoj
prime ministers for the two wings. His sole ain,}
obviously, was to capture power by any means. For his
personal interests, he was prepared to sacrifice thej
national unity and integrity of Pakistan. -

Compulsions of Mujib's Overwhelming Victory

If the massive victory of the Awani League 1
the elections caught the military-bureaucratic reging
by surprise and upset its post-electoral alignments,j
it placed the Awanmi League's leader in an incarcerated
position that took away his freedom of manoceuvre. The
people of East Pakistan had voted for the programme 03
the Awami League, which promised them freedoq ffo;
exploitation. Quite naturally, the people now hoped}
that the future constitution of the country would D
framed on the basis of the Six-Point and Eleven-POhij
programmes. Not only the thumping. majority with whic;
AL won was significant but also the fact that while 1}
captured almost all the seats in East Pakistan, it di9
not have even ‘a single seat in the Western Wing. Thi:
explains the hardening of the attitude of Mujib afu:'
the declaration of election results. Before q;
elections, Sheikh Mujib, it is reported, was agreeablf
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s Six-Point programme end alsc to show
odfx-tfzmhthe draft constitution prepared by the
“I.'Leaglle(13)- It 1is 1likely that he may have
"t’"to it as a part of his political strategy, and
magree he never expected to get an absolute majority
¥ “u;e elections. Whatever might have been the
in- ttioﬂ of Mujib at that time, after the declaration
nee? election results it was almost impossible to do
ff tgfn against the wishes of East Bengalee people.
&‘“’S Jganuary 1971, Sheikh Mujib declared that the
- fi;re constitution of the country would be framed on
e basis of programme given in the Awanml League's
n manifesto(1l4). 0f course, he sought the
on of the pecple's representatives of West
pakistan in framing the constitution but without any
‘eoppronise of fundamental policy matters(153). He
yepeatedly expressed that there was no scope of
yeadjustment in his party's Six-Point progranme
decause it was on the basis of this programme that the
#yeferendun” was held in the country. And, therefore,
the Six-Point and Eleven-Point programmes were no
more his party's property(16), but these belonged to
the people of East Bengal. On 4 January 1971, he
varned if the Six-Point programme was opposed by any
quarter in West Pakistan, the responsibility of any
gonsequences would be theirs(17).

A Consistent with his Six-Point Programme, Mujib
‘sdvocated grant to all the provinces of sufficient
sutonomy that would solve the problems of West
Pakistan as well as of East Pakistan. Such a course
tould allow him to form a government at the centre
Without compromising the basic principles on which the
wani League had contested the . elections. Any
tompromise on the Six-Point and Eleven-Point
P‘!;O rammes with his absolute majority would have
-lfa en the confidence of the people in the leadership
;:oi-tl'ie Awami League. Besides the above-mentioned
S cgg sions, his firm conviction that his was the
ki ry of certain principles, left little room for
Ng &ny compromise.

Of Other Parties

a o‘;‘,i‘:h”ie the elections of 1970 gave the AL-absolute
PP. as ythn the National Assembly, it had placed the
‘yﬁr‘;"latte: second largest party 1in Pakistan, though
ate  won had captured only about one-half of the
bviousiy by the former. Other minor parties
ratiocould not bring a radical change in the
Dlicies cns in the National Assembly, yet their
gainip ould either increase or <decrease the
'8 Position of the PPP.
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, the two important parties -~ the
which stood for secularism, socialistic
autonomy for East Bengal and friendly
h India, won 167 (including 7 indirectly
out of 169 seats from East Bengal and
people's Party which stood for Islamic
ocialistic reforms, strong centre and
won 88 (including 5 indirectly elected
ats in West pakistan - had left only a few
hared by these parties. All Pakistan
of Khan Abdul Qayyunm Khan which was
championing the cause of Islamic
tre and for its anti-Indian
cured a total of 9 seats - 1 each in Punjab
d in NWFP. Pakistan Muslim League
with similar ideological background could
y from Punjab. Another political party
gimilar jdeological orientation Jam
d 4 seats - 1 each in Punjab and NWFP and 2 in
pakistan Muslim League (Council) of Mian Mumtaz
gultana, which differed with the above
sentioned-parties only in one respect as it also
' the introduction of economic reforms,
7  seats, all from Punjab. Pakistan
mocratic Party, having an ideological orientation

PDe

Jike that of Pakistan Muslim League (Council), won

nly 1 seat in East Pakistan.

iliait—ul-Ulema—i—Islami (Hazarvi Group), a
gressive politico—religious party, got 7 seats - 6
- NWFP and 1 in Baluchistan.
kazi-Jamait-ul-Ulema-i-Islan (Thanvi Group), @

rightist orthodox party, also got 7 seats -~ 4 in

-3 njab and 3 in Sind. The National Awami Party (Wali
LAF°“P), a pro-Russian party which 1like the Awami
Jeague stood for secularism, socialism, full autonomy
§;§ East Bengal and friendly relations with India, won

1eegt§ - 3 in NWFP, 3 in Baluchistan and 1 indirectly

icted women's seat(18). Besides, 14 seats were
zigiig by independents including one from East
K

> 7 As  the Awami Lea
gue had secured absolute
‘39}':3}50 it could form the government even without
, ouspzv?t from other parties. However, 1C was
Zthe w;:ziilthe beginning that some of the members
ological Pakistan parties either having similar
Soatin orientations 1like NAP (Walil group) OT
),,cu)gaeé:onomic reforms like the Muslim League
‘iﬂW"Mup;ba few independents would support the AL
“baf‘ftomJE . In addition, the lome independent
334b.  As sésﬁ Pakistan could be expected to support
PJand the mgii a situation was unpalatable for the
“the AL tary-bureaucratic elite, they began to
0 assas i.and its sympathisers: Attempts were
sinate the popular leaders. While Mujib

o
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escaped an assassin's attempt on his life on the niﬁi
of 8 January 1971, two newly elected MPs at Pabng §f
Chittagong were killed(19). These incidents, hOWewgf
did not make any difference to the Awami Leagueﬂ'
position. Many leaders of West Pakistan pleaded witH
the ruling junta for a negotiated settlement with
Sheikh Mujibur Rahman. Leaders like Air Marsha] Nud
Khan of the Council Muslir League, Wali Khan of th
National Awami Party and Mufti Mahmud of the
Jamait-ul-Ulemna strongly denounced Bhutto  £,3
unjustifiably opposing the Awami League. Air Margh,y
Nur Khan, who stood for economic reforms, even went t+
the extent of saying that Mujibur Rahman's Six-Poipd

programme of autonomy could be as beneficial for
Punjab as for East Bengal(20). The fact that thel
Council Muslinm League was known to be a rightigd
party, wedded to the ideals of unity and integrity of
Pakistan and was the second largest political group ip
Punjab, lent special significance = to such
pronouncements(21). 3

The delay in summoning of the National Assembly]
session and the PPP's manoeuvres against the Awanf
League provided an opportunity to some of the Eas
Pakistan political parties to take up those policies
which could improve their image in the eyes of the
people. Therefore, some 1leaders of differenty
political parties, which had been considerably,
weakened due to the landslide victory of the Awani§

- the seat of Bhashani - to formulate a strategy for
making themselves popular. Ataur Rehman Khan with his
truncated Pakistan National League, ASM Sulaiman of
KSP, Pir Mohsenuddin (Dadu Miah) of East Pakista
Jamait-ul-Ulema-Islam and Lt Commander Muazzang
Hussain, one of the accused of the Agartala Conspiracy
Case, all joined the Santosh Parleys. Assuming tha}
the demand for an independent East Bengal had built-in
apeal amongst the masses of East Bengal, these leaders,
thought of giving to the people a clear-cut programnné
for separation of East Bengal from Pakistans
Obviously, the purpose was to outbid the Awami Leagué
and to revitalise themselves in politics by supportin
extremist demands. E

Another stage of lining up of the minor pal't1e
started when Bhutto decided not to attend the Nationsh
Assembly session on 1 March 1971. Nurul Anins
President of Pakistan Democratic Party opposed th?;
demand of Bhutto and requested all the members of tk
National Assembly to attend the session. Maulana SY€4
Abul Ala Maudodi considered Bhutto's demands &5
improper. Ataur Rehman Khan of Pakistan Nationga
League considered this move of Bhutto as an attempt b5
divide the country. Both the factions of the Nationd
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+ party also condemned the attitude of Bhutto.
er when Bhutto opposed Mujib's Four-Point
he invited more criticism from wvarious
(tical arties. The General Secretary of PDP,
11 "zFMohd- Rafique condemned the fascist attitude
Wtto which was responsible for creating an
tere of disunity. The General Secretary of
Ié_ul—Ulema-i-Islam, Mufti Mehmud and the Baluchi
der, Nawab Bugti also deplored Bhutto's attitude
e peati g a deadlock. Begum Tahimina Masud of
United Party, a local party, cautioned
that history would not forgive hinm for his
eds and assured Sheikh Mujibur Rahman full support
on behalf of thirty-two lakh people of Bahawalpur.
nember of the PDP in National Assembly, Nurul
termed Bhutto's demands as unreal and
{rrational. Maulana Hazarvi, General Secretary of
Japait-ul-Ulema-i-Islam (Hazarvi) which  had 7
representatives in the National Assembly, while
ceriticising Bhutto for his action, endorsed the
decision of Sheikh Mujib not to attend the proposed
conference of all parties in Dhaka on 10 March 1971.
Bhutto, on the other hand, was supported only by
Muslim League (Qaiyum Group) and Muslim
League(Convention). Thus, Mujib not only had absolute
majority in the National Assembly but also had the
support of the majority of the representatives from
t_l;tee out of the total five provinces of Pakistan.
ATIONAL ASSEMBLY

The story of National Assembly exposes the
attempts of the military-bureaucratic group to thwart
the democratic process in East Bengal. This group by
its ‘manoeuvres created circumstances in which it
1 came possible, though unjustifiably, to postpone the
%th}?nal Assembly session. The first hint of Yahya
CO:“ § plans is to be found in his two identical

thegratulatory messages sent to Mujib and Bhutto on
e -bsuccess of their parties in the National
»8sembly(22), Such an act was questionable as Mujib's
bhad secured a landslide victory and thereby he
kist:come the democratically elected 1leader of
bis intn' Unwittingly Yahya Khan by doing so exposed
: :there“];:ion to play Bhutto against Mujibur Rahman

6"¢ha1ke Yy retain power. As Yahya required some time
1tuationou§ his strategy to deal with the unexpected
1 ction.’ e did not meet Mujib immediately after the
the re lifter about a fortnight of the declaration

he t sults, probably to know the mind of Bhutto,
1970(23) ‘ZEt the PPP leader on the 28 December
; " Ra}f the same time, probably to pacify Sheikh
bly Iﬁan, he declared that the National
(PAR when summoned, would first meet at
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9

Thinking that Mujib's position had becg, 3
slightly weak by Bhutto's pronouncements, Yahya Khm
went to Dhaka ‘on 11 January 1971 to nmeet Mujila;
During the next two days, he held discussions ~, %
secured the assurance from Mujibur Rahman
sufficient federal funds to meet military expenditul.e,
As mentioned earlier while leaving Dhaka, Yahya gp,9
called Mujib the future Prime Minister of the COUntry'
which nust have alarmed Bhutto. Soon after thi 3
meeting, Yahya Khan went to meet Bhutto. It can p
presumed that in this meeting Yahya Khan urged Bhutigd
to meet Mujib on 27 January, and held discussions with
the Awami League leader on the Six-Point programpe}
These talks made it clear to Bhutto and Yahya that tpg
Awami League was committed to the Six-Point g
Eleven-Point programmes, and, therefore, some othe
strategy had to be evolved to deal with the situation e

As mentioned earlier, the hijacking of Indiags
plane on 30 January 1971, was used by Yahya Khan as anji
opportunity to create a war hysteria against Indis
Following this incident, Yahya Khan spoke of a
emergency and his military advisers expressed gravellk
anxiety about the 'brink of war' situation. But these 3
attempts did not check the Awami League from demanding 3
the summoning of the National Assembly at thej
earliest. When the pressure by the Awami League an
the people increased, Yahya on 13 February 1971
announced that the National Assembly would meet inf
Dhaka on 3 March 1971. By this time, Yahya Khan knewd
pretty well that Bhutto would not agree to attend thegmg
session of the National Assembly, and this wouldE

provide more opportunity to the President to manage
things in his favour. 4

As was expected, on the 15 February 1971, Bhutto
came forward with the declaration of boycotting thes
' National Assembly session, beginning on 3 March in
Dhaka. The PPP leader threatened that his party]
members would resign from the National Assembly befor§]
it met. This was not permissible under the Legal
Framework Order. So Yahya amended the relevanty
section of the Order through a Martial Law decree(25)v
Thereafter, probably to meet any eventuality of strong
opposition from the people, Yahya dissolved 1
civilian cabinet and held a secret conference with allf
his Governors and Martial Law Administrators(26). Th
Governor at Dhaka, Vice-Admiral S.M. Ahsan and thd;
Martial Law Administrator, Lt.Gen. S.M.Yakub, appriséd,
Yahya Khan of the dangerous situation in East Bengd
and advised immediate political action to end th
crisis. Yahya Khan, however, did not pay any heed t
it. Taking advantage of Bhutto's statement, that '
the National Assembly session was held on 3 MarC4
1971, as scheduled without PPP's participation,
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1aunch a popular agitation "from Khyber to
chi, on 1 March 1971, Yahya Khan announced the
| ponement of National Assembly  session for an
R efinite period. Justif)fing his decision, Yahya Khan
{nted out that the major party of West Pakistan,
amely the Pakistan People's Party, as well as certain
other political parties, had announced their intention
°F not attending the National Assembly session of 3
arch 1971. In addition, the general situation of
ension created by India further complicated the
osition, compelling him to take such a step. He,
owever, pronised the people that as soon as the
y{tuation would improve, he woulc have no hesitation
n summoning the session of National Assembly.

'FACTO SELF-RULE IN EAST WING

P

' The indefinite  postponement of  National
ssembly, which was announced on 1 March 1971
roduced a sharp reaction in East Bengal :
»(,_'%gontaneously, and even before a strategy could be.z
*ehalked out by the Awami League, students and others
ad taken to the streets to demonstrate against this
tion of thwarting democratic processes. Processions
re taken out, raising slogans against Yahya Khan's
egime and dgmanding an independent East Bengal. This
88 the beginning of mass upsurge. Sheikh Mujibur
shman, deploring the postponement of National
sembly, formulated a plan of non-viol at
on-cooperation movement against the C tenl
overnment of Pakistan. He also called for enlra
hartal' or strike in Dhaka on 2 March and Ehcomp oot
88t Bengal on 3 March(27). While eo foughout
g¢acting angrily to the postponement of gh pNetiwere
88embly session another ti Cary jumca
dded fuel o action of the military junta
"fional Assemblye Sii;gé The postponement of the
val of Vice-Admiral SnM WZ; accompanieg * i pone
nﬁ:noausstl Berﬁgal, as the C.;O\.rernosfn’ofa I*%):spél ?’Zkfigzge
_.titudey”to ethwasB removed'because of his sympathetic
o the call i\? engalees’ demands(28). In response
ness given by Sheikh Mujibur Rahman, shops and
establishments in Dhaka remained closed
ehicles went off the roads and t i*c P
Suspended. on 2 Maroh: 195% L train services
ed down fro . National flags were
't and m the provincial Secretariat, High
ed 1 c:ﬁglfr Government buildings. The mob evgn
8ans of 'Sv?agdel-?t of East Pakistan Rifles to raise
8al) in pron in Purba Bangla' (Independent East
Tty-five thoua lzlniversity. A meeting of about
KeTs pade asarcll people was held, where the
eclaration of independent East
urfew in S tﬂiis, the Pakistan Government
eople aka on 2 March. However, groups
0 def%rlthe curfew orders. On 3



March, the Pakistan Government tried to fI’UStrati
meeting at Paltan Maidan, which Sheikh Mujibur Rahe'
was to address, but in wvain. The Martia] -
authorities resorted to firing at certain Placeg 7}
which a number of persons were killed(29). She{
Mujibur Rahman urged the authorities to handover PO
to the elected representatives of the people(30), 3
also rejected the invitation of Yahya Khan to atted
the proposed nmeeting of the leaders of f
parliamentary groups on 10 March in Dhaka to solve .
constitutional tangle. As mentioned earlier, at ¢4

stage, many political leaders condemned Yahya's g4

and showed solidarity with Mujib.

On 3 ‘farch 1971, Sheikh Mujibur Rahgg
announced the details of the Non-~violeg
Non-Cooperation Movement from 3 March to 6 March, 7
called for the observance of a province-wide hart ;S
during this period 1in all spheres, includi
Government offices. All Bengalees serving in radi
television and pro-military junta newspapers vergllk
asked to refuse to cooperate with the militarflle
junta(31). From 4 March 1971, the Awami League policfllf
directives began to be issued from the 'Banglades§lk
Secretariat' at Mujib's house. These directive
issued in the name of Bangladesh, helped to keep t
Bangladesh economy moving and to maintain law a
order(32). On &4 March, Mujib issued a directive

paid, for the purpose of disbursing salariesj
Exemption was also granted from hartal to th§ 1
essential services 1like hospitals, water, gas angee
electricity supply, telephones (local), fire services§
etc(33). The demonstrations against the postponemenSag
of the National Assembly session continued between SHE
March and 6 March, and the army tried to crush them D

force. Large numbers of persons were injured Whi»
many were killed.

inaugural session of the National Assembly would ™
held on 25th March(34). He also said that while 3
was trying to initiate the proces of transfer of Pow,
to the elected representatives, it was obstructe.d 2
the political leaders. He particularly blamed MujiP¥
Rahman for 1it(35), At the same time, Lt Gen TiK¥
Khan, well-known for his ruthless repression 4
dissent, was appointed Martial Law Administrator fﬂ
Governor of East Pakistan(36). However, the Ch
Justice of East Pakistan refused - on the plea =
illness - to administer the oath of office to Ti¥%
Khan, and he remained only the Martial
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strator ti1ll a Jjudge from West Pakistan was
n The speech and this move of Yahya Khan
d the suspicion of the pecple of East
Oon 6 March an incident of jail-breaking
, reninding of the fall of Bastille during
Pench Revolution. Three hundred and forty-one
rs escaped from the Dhaka Centrel Jail and
P ter took out a procession(37). Similar incidents
P ot : also reported to have taken place at Narayanganj,

pailla and Barisal(38).

on 7 March 1971, Mujibur Rahman in a public
at Dhaka which was attended by over a million
ple, criticised Yahya Khan for blaming him and the
engalees for the crisis. He also announced that he
suld attend the Assembly Session, fixed for 25 March,
rovided four conditions were satisfied(39). These
withdrawal of the troops to barracks, the
f a judicial enquiry into killings by the
4litary, retraction of Martial Law, and immediate
ransfer of power to the people's representatives(40).
Mujib further pointed out that there was still time
or both the wings to remain united, if things were
ettled peacefully(41). Though Mujib did not declare
putright independence, he did mention the terms
' freedon’ and 'independence'. It appears that as a
gst attempt to maintain the integrity of Pakistan he
had indicated his conditions to the military junta,
oping that Yahya Khan and his supporters might still
shange their minds and the crisis solved peacefully.

put further pressure on the military junta,
Bheikh Mujibur Rahman, on 7 March announced a week
long programme of agitation starting from 8 March. He
Rolnted out that this programme was in accordance with
1s programme of non-violent non-cooperation to attain
;lfteﬂ immediate termination of Martial Law and transfer
:,.‘iiPOWEI‘ to the elected representatives{42). He
ol ed for the continuation of the no-tax campaign,
”.«,95“1’9 of all Government Offices, including High
e:tf:i educational institutions and seaports.
kgr on for railway was to continue, but the railway
bbperit and the port-workers were asked not to
ﬁ%‘ithate with the West Pakistani authorities and to
'bilizat'izhe railways and ports were not used for the
Wi-pa on of forces. Radio, television and the
"Awfmeirs were asked to give complete versions of
‘to effLeagUe statements. Banks were also asked
ranme ect remittances to the West Wing. This
FHishads 1a1so included organisation of Sangram
itrict uf(li each mohalla, thana, sub-divisiom and
gue acr::ier the leadership of the local Awani
Tanme (43) vists for implementation of the
1. obed] e All these directives received almost
aBal(4s), nce from the people throughout East
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The speech of Sheikh Mujibur Rahman on 7 Mar'
1971 nmarked a new stage in the development of ,
movement. He had taken over the virtual contro]
administration of East Bengal. Many flagg 4
independent Bangladesh were displayed at the Venueg
the meetings(45). Black flags were hoisted on mao‘
buildings in Dhaka city and other places 1in Eagd
Pakistan. Many political leaders both fror East o8
West Pakistan issued statements supporting Mujjprs
four demands and urged Yahya Khan to accept thep
that a grave political crisis could be averted., Nury i
Amin, President of the Pakistan Democratic PartyA
pointed out that the non-violent Non-cooperatj g
movement was spontaneous upsurge provoked by thd
several postponements of the National Assenp]j
session. He urged Yahya Khan to devise effectiya
‘means in consultation with Sheikh Mujib for thel

League also requested the President to transfer powets
to the elected representatives through the adoption off
Government of India Act, 1935 and the Indiap
Independence Act. of 1947 with necessary
amendments(47). Khwaja Khairuddin, President of East3
Pakistan Muslim League, expressed his full agreenenfg
with the demands of Sheikh Mujib. Maulana Abdul Hanid®
Khan Bhashani, President of the pro-Chinese Nations}
Awami League, in a public meeting at Dhaka on 9 Marchg
expressed full support to Mujib's non-violeng§
non-cooperation movement. Ataur Rehman  Khang
President of the Pakistan National League, pointed oufSm
that the recent happenings clearly indicated that thej

people wanted nothing short of an independenis
Bangladesh. Professor Muzaffar Ahmed, President off

East Pakistan NAP (Pro-Russian), said that Shel
Mujib's conditions for participating in the Nationa}
Assembly session were just and minimum.

Meanwhile as directed by Sheikh Mujibur Rahmang
the movement was conducted in a disciplined manne§
and, therefore, some semblance of order W§
maintained. The Awami League organised peace patrols
which  checked the rioting. The  non-violef
non-cooperation movement continued successfully I8
accordance with the programme laid down. Mujib,
addition to the four conditions laid down by g
party, demanded three more things: the cessation 4
military build-up in East Pakistan, stoppage ¢
victimization of Government officers and emplo)’eef
and entrusting the maintenance of law and order 0“’
to the police and the East Pakistan Rifles(48)]
However, Yahya Khan, instead of coming to Dhaka 0“i 2
March, postponed his visit till 15 March. React
against this, Mujib on 11 March said that the use %
force could silence the voize.of the people only
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_carily. He also criticised the Mgrtial Law order
T upon civil employees of Defence Establishments
n%me their duties by 15 March. He pointed out
fsuch order could only serve as a provocation to
173 pglople. The civil employees of the Pakistan
.ce Establishments took out a procession against
rder in Dhaka on 14th March. Later they marched
ne o-ib's residence and expressed their support to
M:gvement. Mujib, seeing no favourable response
Yahya Khan and the continuation of the policy of
pression by the Wes; Efkistani udgfffry ju?ta,iwai
o assure u responsi ty o civi
~g::§gst:;ti°n in Bangladesh(49). He declared that
he Awami League was the majority party according to
‘people's verdict iqd, t%friﬁsrgﬁ ﬁ?u;dk;uﬁ: ill?ﬁ the
n to continue by e Wes akistani rulers.
o:ﬁ;i:i%ame day, the Government machinery started
functioning again with the promulgation of thirty-five
laborate directiges(SOg. Tax collection Z?d go
mence, but a receipts were to remain under the
:::201 of the provincial Government. The district
doministration was asked to keep close liaison with
he local Awami League authorities(51). Thus, in an
nprecedented, bloodless and open coup, the de facto
dpinistration of the province came into the hands of
‘the Awami League. When Yahya Khan came to meet
Mujibur Rahman and held discussions with him between
~March and 24 March, Mujib was effectively in
ontrol of East Bengal.

JOBR

HONEY NEGOTIATIONS AND MILITARY PREPARATIONS

There is no doubt that Z.A. Bhutto and President
ahya Khan collaborated with each other to deny Sheikh
Jibur Rahman and the Awami League the political
ight to frame a constitution for the country and form
. government at the Centre(52). But, as already
Oticed, their respective objectives were
-ANCompatible. While Bhutto sought to share power at
\ A a complete sway over West Pakistan,
ya's game was to block Mujib with Bhutto and then
;6Tush the East Pakistan's demands by military
Sddenl So, in the last week of February, Yahya Khan
QQrez Y dissolved his civilian cabinet and held a

ldmionference with all his Governors and Martial
) lniStrators. On or around 22 February 1971, a
dﬁud;ivel conference was held at the Army
i enterigin Rawalpindi, which was attended only by
rals(s3) ahya Khan and the senior-most Army
cal ol In this conference it was decided that
an andpgyer should not be handed over to Mujibur
“autone 1s party(54). The Generals thought that
ed b By movement of East Pakistan had been
. g’ufthe politicians, and a few thousand dead
G ficient to crush it. In March, Bhutto
...65_



reportedly revealed similar thinking to some foré;
journalists : "The autonomy issue has been Createq N

a few intellectuals. A few thousand dead in Dhakzd .,
East Pakistan will be quiet soon"(55). Similar;
General Tikka Khan reportedly told President

Yapd
Khan : "Give me one week's time, I will bring ﬁa

normelcy in East Pakistan'"(56).

When Yahya arrived in Dhaka on 15 March, fq,¥
further dialogue with Mujibur Rahman, a Number 3
Generals also arrived in Dhaka to give final tOUCh'
to the Army's action plan. Next day, Free Banglade‘s
Students' Central Action Committee issued a pregg
statement condemning the Pakistan Army's repressig
against the people of East Pakistan. Many many Peop}
had been killed and even women folk were tortured
brutally. They asked Yahya Khan to '"take thes
saldiers back'(57). j

Now there was tremendous pressure on Mujib frq
the militants within and outside his party not ¢
negotiate with Yahya, as they thought that the latte
was not likely to come to terms with the Awani League,
However, it appears, Mujib still hoped that Yahy
might, due to the pressure of events, agree to th
terms of the Awami League. On the other hand, Yahya

his military preparations. They held several round
of talks during 16-23 March. = In addition, senio
leaders of the Awami League and the top advisers o
Yahya met separately, ‘

Rifles and the police force would not be a party to 3
any military action against the people of Eastj
Pakistan. A few incidents confirmed this. In one @
instance, a Bengalee EPR Naib Subedar, Ahsanullah
refused to open fire on the Bengalee demonstrators. i
In another instance, Naib Subedar Salek Uddin, alsoi@
did the same and both of them were arrested. On
March, in a wmilitary action against civilians atg
Joydebpur, 40 knm away from Dhaka, about 150 peopl »
were reportedly killed(58). The following day, the
Chief of Staff of Pakistan Army, General Hamid, was ‘g
seen in Dhaka, from where he started visiting various j
cantonments of East Pakistan. Bhutto arrived in Dhak
on 21 March and, within two hours of his arrival, j

joined Yahya in a secret meeting lasting for two g
hours. 1

On 23 March, it was reported that an interi® -
agreement had been reached between Yahya and Mujib on &
ilmmediate withdrawal of Martial Law by a Presidential }
Proclamation:and immediate. restoration of power to the j



¢ resentative parties. The same day, in a meeting
'regween the President's aid and the AL team, a draft
onstitution was submitted by Dr. Kamal Hussain. It
;Outlined interim administrative arrangements and a
ﬁrocedure for the framing of two constitutions for the
two wings of Pakistan by two ‘'constitutional
conventions' for the 'Confederation of Pakistan'(59).

While these tortuous negotiations were going on,
the events in East Bengal were putting pressure on
Mujib to declare complete independence. On 23 March,
on the occasion of the Republic Day of Pakistan, the
Central Students' Action Committee hoisted the
Bangladesh flag in place of the Pakistan flag all over
" Dhaka. This was a reaction against the Pak army's
" firings at different places in the province starting
' from 19 March in Joydebpur. The Central Students’
"~ Action Committee also observed 23 March as 'Resistance
" Day' and marched in a procession to Mujib's house and
forced him to hoist the Bangladesh flag at his
.. residence(60). Meanwhile, Radio Pakistan Dhaka, was
.. renamed as '"Dhaka Betar Kendra'", and it began to issue
news bulletins, about revolutionary happenings in East
. Bengal. During the period of negotiations, the hold
-~ of Mujib on East Bengal's administration further
+. Increased. Every day, innumerable processions of
- various bodies, including that of government
employees, chanting slogans 1like 'Jai Bangla' or
'Swadhin Bangladesh Zindabad', paraded the streets of
Dhaka. These wusually ended at Mujib's house.
Moreover, the directives :of Mujib were faithfully
implemented by the vast majority of the people in East
Bengal. Hence, by 24 March 1971, Mujib had virtually
established a parallel government which became one of
the important dimensions of the Bangladesh
Independence movement.

I R

At this time, President Yahya Khan began to put
guch objections to the draft constitution, submitted
bY the Awami League that it became clear he was going

iCk on his earlier assurances. The negotiations had
g Ttually come to an end on 23 March. Although, A.K.
tZOhi = a constitutional expert and member of Yahya's
Acgm ~ opined on 24 March that the Indian Independence
| pre fgovided a precedent for the transfer of power by
e plaS ential proclamation, the President had other
'Spoﬂs to implement(61). While Tajuddin Ahmed, as the
? e k:esman of the AL, was meeting the President's aides
1att:0w the decision of Yahya Khan on 24 March, the
aheadr was secretly ordering the Pakistan Army to go
Yahyg with the crackdown. On 25th morning, Bhutto met
deves and Lt Gen Peerzada to discuss the latest
opments. The President left Dhaka secretly for

2 Na
5Bh52§2%6§§.7 pP.m the same day, without informing even
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In retrospect, the discussions that took place 1
in the third week of March 1971, were bound to fai]l,
While for Mujib, the talks were the last attempt tq |
come to a peaceful settlement of the crisis, for Yahy,
these were merely an eyewash to hoodwink the East
Bengal leaders and the world at large, till the tipe
military preparations were over. As soon as these |
were completed, all pretensions of findirg & political:
solution were thrown to the winds, and the military
crackdown started. 4

The first batch of Pakistani troops had arriveq:
in Dhaka from West Pakistan by a Boeing aircraft of:
the Pakistan International Airlines on the night of .
February 28, under strict security cover. Tanks were:
brought to Dhaka from other cantonments. Immediately:
on arrival, these were put on soft tracks for use on]
the city roads. Troop movement by air from the:
Western Wing to East Pakistan became a regular.
nocturnal affair(63). Troop movements over such a3 §
long distance (three thousand two hundred kilometres)
by air, especially after the ban on overflights by §
India, following the blowing up of the hijacked Indian §
aircraft, entailed lengthy administrative and logistic f
preparations at the despatching as well as the}
receiving ends. A backward calculation of time would g
show that the troops which moved from Kharian and §
Quetta cantonments must have received orders to move j§
at least two weeks earlier. Accordingly, the army
units must have received their movement orders even i
before 13 February, when Yahya Khan announced the date:
of the National Assembly session in Dhaka. s

The military build-up was continued furiously.
Even as Yahya Khan was sending out the invitations onjg
March 3 for the meeting on March 10, a battalion of
the Baluch Regiment (22 Baluch) was airlifted to Eastig
Pakistan. This unit was kept at the EPR HQ &t
peelkhana in Dhaka, and it started reconnaissance ingk
EPR uniform from the following day(64). =

When people started talking about the militarjge
build-up, Yahya gave the excuse that such a build-UPE
was necessitated by troop concentration by India aloné @
the borders. According to one U.S. newspaper report:J§
two Pakistani C-130 aircraft with undisclosed carg’§s
arrived at Dhaka on 16 March 1971, and according %5:
the "Patriot" report datelined 16 March, two ships h3’Se
brought troops to Chittagong, and those were beliftiR
landed secretly(65). However, dock workers werY
refusing to unload the cargo from these ships.
"Patriot" also confirmed the airlift of troops £ro
West Pakistan to Dhaka airport, via Ceylon and Shei‘f
Mujib got the information that 14,000 Pak troops héd
been sent “to East Pakistan before the arrival %
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b ts which might have raised the strength to
4nforC§1"“::ps(66). Sheikh Mujib felt that Yahya's
00 pent of the National Assembly meeting was
naet gaining time to rush additional troops to
~1adesh(67) .

hi MV Swat, arrived at Chittagong port
Tt::: ;akgétan, Ioacied with arms and ammunition.

Ton We labourers of Chittagong port refused to allow

dock s _
ding of military stores from the ship because
h’,‘.??le(;ied gt:hat: these were likely to be used against

Although it was announced on 24 March that the
ks between Yahya Khan and the political leaders of
both the Wings of Pakistan were still continuing, the
West Pakistani politicians started flying back to
Karachi like birds returning to their nests before the
coming storm. The same day, General Khadim Hussain
Raja alongwith Brigadier Ansari, a West Pakistani
Officer, flew to Chittagong in a helicopter, with a
few to removing Brig Mozumdar, a Bengalee officer,
#rom his command at Chittagong. He convinced Brig
Mozumdar that 2 East Bengal, stationed at Joydebpur,
orth of Dhaka, who had shown some signs of
estiveness, needed a pep talk from 'Papa Tiger'(68).

n the evening, he returned to Dhaka with Brigadier
"Mozumdar, leaving behind Brigadier Ansari to control
the situation in Chittagong. This was the end of
yzumdar's command in the Pak Army. Under personal
uYervision of the new Brigadier, the army started
Unloading arms and ammunition from the MV Swat.
Chittagong seemed to burst in anger and people set up
arricades on the road connecting the port with the
antonment. This led to firing on the crowds, and
knew how many were killed or injured.

According to a Pakistani officer, it was on 17
tgh that President Yahya Khan, after his talks with
?b,~reported1y told Gen Tikka Khan : "The bastard
L'}gtobehav.’mg. You get ready". Tikka Khan rang up
-dét'gi at 10 p.m.: "Khadim you can go ahead"(69).
’an?L ded Planning for the Pak military crack-down
Geng[?heSh then started. On 18 March (morning),
B th adim Hu§sain Raja and Maj Gen Rao Farman Ali

ratioe GS.O.C. s office to draft the basic plan for
ope;;tiearchlight" in place of the earlier plan
: Tole) on Blitz" (to enforce Martial Law in its
part .f While Gen Farman Ali wrote down the
1, Genol(hthe new plan, using an ordinary school
istributiadim wrote the second part dealing with
to bry don of resources and the allocation of
ch to géi es and units. The plan was read out on
ed the eneral Hamid and Lt Gen Tikka Khan who
main contents68f the plan but struck out



the clause pertaining to the disarming of regular
Bengalee troops (not EPR or Police)(70).

All preparations for the military crack-down
were completed by 24 March. The final order
indicating the time when the crack-down should start
was conveyed over telephone at 11 a.m. on 25 March.
Lt Gen Tikka Khan rang up Maj Gen Khadim Husain:
"Khadim, it is tonight'"(71). The date coincided with
the second anniversary of Yahya Khan's assumption of
power. General Khadim passed the order to his staff
for implementation. The General Staff of HQ 14
Division rang up all the outstation garrisons to
inform them of the H-Hour through a private code, so
that all garrisons could act simultaneously.

THE CRACK-DOWN OF 25 MARCH 1971 . ‘

Although the fateful hour was set for 260100,
i.e., 1 a.m. of 26 March, the actual crack-down began
a little earlier. According to the plan of the
operation, code-named OPERATION SEARCHLIGHT(72), Maj
Gen Farman Ali, with 57 Brigade under Brigadier Arbab,
was responsible for operations in Dhaka and its
suburbs, while Major General Khadim was to take care
of the rest of the province. Lt Gen Tikka Khan and
his staff were to monitor the progress of the
operations from the Martial Law Headquarters in the
Second Capital(73).

Before 11 p.m. on 25 March, Sirajul Alam Khan
alongwith some other student leaders met Mujib at his
residence and urged him to issue a declaration of
independence and call upon the EBR, EPR, Police and
Ansars to resist the Pak Army. Mujib agreed, and at.
about midnight tried to contact the Dhaka Radio
Station, but could not do so as the Army had already
seized it. He then managed to contact the Chittagong
Radio Station through the EPR wireless to broadcast
the declaration of Independence. Mujib also gave
instructions to his colleagues to go underground, but
he himself preferred to remain at home. He knew that
he might be killed, but nevertheless, an independent
Bangladesh would be built on his grave(74).

Meanwhile, starting from the cantonment at about
11.30 p.m., West Pakistani troops reached their target |
areas, such as the Dhaka University Campus, Dhanmandi |
area where Mujib was 1living, Nawabpur, and the old ]
city, before midnight. In an act of treachery *
unparalleled in contemporary history, a programme of
calculated genocide was unleashed on the peaceful and
unsuspecting population of Dhaka by midnight of 25
March. No ultimatum was given to the Awami League by .
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the sky. At times, nmournful clouds of

accompanied the blaze but soon they were overwh
by the flaming fire trying to lick at the stars,
light of the moon and the glow of the stars Pale;
before this man-made furnace. The tallest columng of
smoke and fire emerged from the University Campyg
e¢lthough some other parts of the city, such as th;

Fremises of the daily, 'Peo le', had no small share 13
these macabre fireworks"igﬁg. 3

SmOk:'
elmeé

Igbal Hall and Jagannath Hall in the Universyid
campus headed the list of targets of the Planners .o
the army crack-down. The troops attacked the residep
students and teachers indiscriminately after smashipg
the buildings with rocket launchers, mortars and
recoilless rifles. Hundreds of these unfortunatg
students, teachers and their family npembers wery
queued up and then shot or bayoneted to death. They
included Dr. G.cC. Dev, Dr. M.A. Khair, Dr. Serajul
Haque Khan, Dr. Shahadat Ali, Munier Chowdhur
Mufazzal Haider Chowdhury, Jyotirmoy Guha Thakura
and Anwar Pasha. "Besides, a sizeable nunber off
reputed journalists, doctors and literary persons felll
victims to their killing hands, History has hardliy@
witnessed such a massacre of human beings"(81). 4

The U,S. Intelligence Agency, C.I.A., reported
collaborated with the Pak military junta in trying to